IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

* * *

DARION COLEMAN

Appellant,

VS.

STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Case No: 82915 Electronically Filed Dec 07 2021 02:25 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

(Appeal from denial of Post-Conviction Writ)

i

Waleed Zaman, Esq. Nevada Bar Number 13993 6620 South Tenaya Way Suite 100 Las Vegas, Nevada 89113 Attorney for Appellant

Alexander Chen, Esq. Nevada Bar Number 10539 Clark County District Attorney Appellate Division Attorney for Respondent

Aaron Ford, Esq. Nevada Bar Number 7704 Nevada Attorney General Attorney for Respondent

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This appeal is in response to a Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order, which was filed on April 23rd, 2021. 4 AA 762. Appellate jurisdiction in this case derives from Nevada Rules of Appellate Procedure 4 (b) (1), *NRS* 34.575, and Section 4 of Article 6 of the Nevada Constitution, as this matter concerns an appeal of a district court Order denying a Petition for a Writ of Habeas Corpus. The Notice of Appeal was timely filed on May 11, 2021. 4 AA 788-89.

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

DARION COLEMAN,

Appellant,

vs. THE STATE OF NEVADA, Respondent. Case No.: 82915

ROUTING STATEMENT PURSUANT TO NRAP 3(C)(E)(1)(B)(IX)

NRAP 28(a)(5) mandates that Appellant shall provide a routing statement that indicates if the matter is "presumptively retained by the Supreme Court or assigned to the Court of Appeals under NRAP 17."

Here, pursuant to NRAP 17(b), this matter should be retained by the Nevada Supreme Court as it is a challenge to a conviction for a category "a" felony and is thus not within the Nevada Court of Appeal's listed jurisdiction. *See* 3 AA 625.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

Issue One: The District Court Abused Its Discretion When It Did Not Find Deficient Conduct For Failure to Obtain a Timely PTSD Evaluation, And Otherwise Abused Its Discretion In Denying Appellant's Request For The Evaluation Prior To Evidentiary Hearing.

Issue Two: The District Court Abused Its Discretion When It Did Not Find Detective Miller's Testimony Improper Expert Witness Testimony For Which She Was Not Noticed.

Issue Three: The Judgment of Conviction must be overturned, given the district court's reliance on evidence in violation of *Silks*.

Issue Four: The District Court Abused Its Discretion When It Failed To Find That The State Impermissibly Impugned Darion's Right To Silence.

Issue Five: The District Court Abused Its Discretion When It Failed To Deem The State's Closing Argument As Impermissible Tailoring That Precluded Darion From Receiving a Fair Trial.

Issue Six: The District Court Abused Its Discretion When It Failed To Find Deficient Conduct and Prejudice From a Failure to Impeach Or Argue At Closing.

Issue Seven: Cumulative error requires striking of the Judgment of Conviction.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Darion Muhammed-Coleman was indicted via Grand Jury on October 11, 2013 for the following charges: conspiracy to commit robbery (felony); attempt robbery with use of a deadly weapon (felony); murder with use of a deadly weapon (felony); battery with use of a deadly weapon (felony); assault with a deadly weapon (felony); conspiracy to violate uniform controlled substances act (felony); and attempt to possess controlled substance (wobbler). 1 AA 001-2. Darion entered a plea of "Not-Guilty."

Jury Trial proceeded on January 3rd, 2017 and on January 11th, 2017, Darion was found not-guilty on counts one (1), two (2), and five (5) for conspiracy to commit robbery (felony), attempt robbery with use of a deadly weapon (felony), and assault with a deadly weapon (felony) respectively. 3 AA 624-5. However, Darion was found guilty of counts for first-degree murder with use of a deadly weapon; battery with use of a deadly weapon; conspiracy to violate uniform controlled substances act; and attempt to possess controlled substance. *Id*.

Darion was thereafter sentenced on count three (3) (first degree murder with use of a deadly weapon) to a term of life with a minimum of two hundred and forty (240) months in the Nevada Department of Corrections (NDOC), plus a consecutive sentence of a minimum of sixty (60) months and a maximum of two hundred and forty (240) months for the deadly weapon enhancement, for a total aggregate sentence of life with the possibility of parole after a minimum of three hundred (300) months. 3 AA 687-88. As to count four (4) (battery with use of a deadly weapon), Darion was sentenced to a minimum term of forty-eight (48) months and a maximum term of one hundred twenty (120) months in the Nevada Department of Corrections (NDOC), concurrent to count three (3). *Id.* As to Count six (6) (conspiracy to violate uniform controlled substance act), Darion was sentenced to a minimum term of twenty-four (24) months and a maximum of sixty (60) months, concurrent to count three (3). *Id.* As to count seven (7) (attempt to possess controlled substance), Darion was sentenced to a minimum term of nineteen (19) months and a maximum term of forty-eight (48) months, concurrent to count three (3), and consecutive to case C299066, with seven hundred twenty (720) days credit for time served. *Id.* The Supreme Court of Nevada affirmed the Judgment of Conviction on July 3, 2018. 4 AA 848.

On December 6, 2019, Darion filed his Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus, alleging as follows; That trial counsel was ineffective for failing to properly crossexamine the lead detective or otherwise raise the issue of perjury or argue the same at closing; That a failure to timely obtain an expert concerning post-traumatic stress disorder given counsel's actual and constructive knowledge of the same amounted to IAC; that the sentencing hearing relied on improper evidence causing Darion to receive an unfair sentencing hearing; that the trial court impermissibly allowed the lead detective to testify as an expert concerning a shooting reconstruction without properly being noticed as such; that the State impermissibly commented on or otherwise solicited comments concerning Appellant's post-arrest and post-*Miranda* silence during trial and during both closing arguments, or alternatively, whether this amounted to an impermissible general tailoring argument during closing in violation of Darion's State and Federal rights¹; and that the aforementioned all cascaded in its prejudice to Darion, amounting to cumulative error of a Constitutional dimension that demanded reversal. 1 AA 010–36; *See also* 4 AA 798.

On March 5, 2020, the State filed its Opposition to Defendant's Post-Conviction Petition For Writ of Habeas Corpus and Request for Evidentiary Hearing and counsel for Darion filed a Reply on April 17, 2020. 3 AA 724-759. 4 AA 751-59. Argument on the same proceeded on October 12, 2020. 4 AA 790.

The district court granted only a limited evidentiary hearing concerning Darion's PTSD claim as it related to self-defense but denied the remaining claims. 3 AA 762-86. Both trial counsel and Darion testified at the hearing on December 18, 2020. 4 AA 811-36. Thereafter, this matter was continued for further argument and to allow counsel for Darion additional time to obtain phone records to corroborate the timeline for which Darion relayed his concerns to counsel. 4 A 835-36.

At the return hearing on February 22, 2021, the district court denied the PTSD claim, thereby resolving all claims in the Petition. 4 AA 837. A Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order was filed on April 23rd, 2021. 4 AA 762. Darion then filed his Notice of Appeal on May 11, 2011 initiating the instant proceedings. 4 AA 788-89.

///

¹ The issue of general tailoring was not raised in the Petition itself but was briefed during oral argument on the same. *See* 4 AA 798-802.

STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS

This case hinged on the dual questions of whether Darion reasonably shot Dale Borero in self-defense, and whether he shot first. ²2 AA 293; 348; 3 AA 544; 4 AA 831 The evidence adduced at trial, including surveillance of the incident and detective testimony provided conflicting information regarding the above at best, and ultimately, this case hinged almost entirely on Darion's credibility, as there were no percipient eye-witnesses, no other persons privy to the conversation between Darion and Mr. Borero, and the only surveillance video was undeniably dubious, particularly given conflicting statements at trial of the two detectives in this matter. 2 AA 348 3 AA 547; 566 596-97; Detective Terri Miller watched surveillance of the incident and wrote in her Declaration of Warrant/Summons that "At that point, Borero pulled a handgun from his right pocket and fired at the black male suspect (Muhammad-Coleman)" and indicated that Mr. Borero shot first. 3 AA 545-46; 632. Miller similarly wrote that Darion "fell to the ground as he attempted to escape the

² At least two juror questions concerning the same were posed at trial; one question was posed of who shot first to the ballistics expert, and was deemed improper for that witness; the question was asked again of the lead detective, who testified that the physical evidence suggested that Darion shot first, contradicting her conclusion formed prior to trial. At trial, the State claimed that the same did not matter, but this was contingent upon their belief that Darion was the original aggressor and/or a conviction would be obtained under a felony murder theory (of which Darion was not ultimately convicted). 2 AA 294; 3 AA 544; 615.

A more thorough recitation of the facts from the trial is also written out in the district court Petition 1 AA 010-024.

gunshots being fired" in a paragraph concerning the video that is otherwise written chronologically. 3 AA 632. Indeed, the other detective in this matter, Clifford Mogg, testified that he could not determine who fired the first shot, even with review of the surveillance. 2 AA 348. Even Anya Lester, who the district court and state point to as their properly noticed expert concerning firearms was asked the specific question of who shot first by the jury, and then was not allowed to answer as it was not deemed a proper question for her (but apparently was for detective miller). 2 AA 294; 3 AA 742; 777-78;

Yet almost inconceivably, Detective Miller responded to a juror question that "based on the physical evidence I would say Mr. Coleman shot first" with no explanation for how that same physical evidence caused a contrary position during her investigation earlier when she relied on it. 3 AA 544. This same physical evidence conclusively established that the gun fired by Mr. Borero had an elevenbullet capacity, that it had discharged all its bullets, and that up to approximately one hour elapsed after the incident and before the first detective arrived on the scene. 2 AA 311; 319; 393-94; Nonetheless, Detective Miller then emphasized, before explicitly claiming not to be such an expert, that the physical evidence at the scene allowed her to determine who shot first, solely based on the "physical evidence." 3 AA 544. Darion was thereafter found "Guilty" of first-degree murder (felony).

Darion, however, provided to the district court post-conviction evidence of error of Constitutional magnitude, implicating both his Federal and State rights in both his trial and the preparation thereto. Such errors increased the likelihood of conviction in a case where Darion's credibility was central, and their absence would have prompted a reasonable probability of a "not-guilty" verdict. For instance, trial counsel, despite recognizing the importance of a PTSD expert and finding a good-faith basis to utilize it for Darion's self-defense claim, did not timely seek the same, and was then forced to proceed without the benefit of an expert witness. 4 AA 815. Also, as mentioned more fully below, the state made a general tailoring argument that implicated Dariocoln's right to be present at trial, and also impermissibly commented on Darion's post-*Miranda* silence, waiting specifically until rebuttal closing after the defense submitted their case to cause the most prejudice to him.

A. Darion's Claims Related to Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder

Darion revealed a bona-fide PTSD claim to buttress his self-defence argument, about which the jury did not hear. On September 13, 2013, Darion disclosed a familial history of PTSD through his mother to Dr. Lawrence Kapel, Ph.D. 3 AA 707-09. On the same day, Dr. Kapel noted "that his attorney is relating a history of family mental health and that his attorney has been unable to meaningfully engage...." regarding prior counsel, Jeremy Storms, Esq. 3 AA 710. Darion further relayed that he was "jumped' and stabbed by three males with a knife. 3 AA 703. This report was memorialized on September 16, 2013. 3 AA 707.³ During

³ Another competency report by Dr. Mark Chambers diagnosed Darion as malingering but also diagnosed him with schizophrenia, and noted previous non-

January 28, 2015, Dr. Daniel Sussman similarly noted a family psychiatric history of PTSD and a personal past diagnosis of bipolar disorder for Darion. 4 AA 886-89.

Altogether, there are at least three (3) competency referrals that indicate the prior shooting and/or PTSD, the dates of which are September and October of 2013 respectively. 3 AA 707-09; 714. This also suggested that prior counsel Storms was on notice regarding PTSD, had his own concerns about the same, and had independent knowledge of the familial mental illness.

At the argument on the Petition in this matter, the district court indicated that "when your client was evaluated for competency, there was no mention of PTSD." 4 AA 792. This was belied by the record, as demonstrated below, as not only did the competency reports mention PTSD, but they also indicated a family history of the same. 4 AA 885-918. Nonetheless, the district court sought more information to identify whether and when trial counsel was informed of Darion's PTSD claims. 4 AA 792. Counsel for Darion also requested authority under NRS 34.790 to allow for a PTSD evaluation because it was necessary to demonstrate prejudice and because Darion was not financially able to pay. 4 AA 794 The district court denied this request. *Id*.

compliance with mental health medications, including Darion's reporting of previously being prescribed Abilify, Concerta, Seroquel, and Risperdal. 3 AA 70-700-02.

At evidentiary hearing, trial counsel confirmed both that a potential PTSD expert would be helpful in his defense (as a determining factor in self -defense), and relatively easy to obtain with a good reason. 4 AA 815. Importantly, counsel (in a better position to judge than the state or the court) appeared to believe Darion, and indeed sought a psychologist to determine whether to call one as a witness at trial in pursuit of a self-defense claim.⁴ However, trial counsel indicated he was forced to file a Motion to Continue due to learning about Darion's PTSD claims in a conversation with him days prior. 4 AA 817-18. This Motion was filed on an Order Shortening Time and was Denied. 4 AA 817-18. Trial counsel did not recall any other pretrial issues of note, other than those for which he filed any Motions. 4 AA 817. Thus, the minutes for a status check hearing on November 28, 2016, when trial counsel indicated to the court concerns with the case and was directed to file a Motion, are in reference to these same PTSD claims. 4 AA 884-85. Thus, it was inconceivable that counsel had only recently learned of them, not only because he acknowledged possession of the competency reports from years prior, but also because of these aforementioned minutes. Id.; 4 AA 819.

Conversely, Darion testified that he specifically indicated his PTSD concerns to counsel approximately one week after a hearing on his case that took place on March 9 2016 and 9 months before the Motion to Continue, filed on December 19,

⁴ Such strategic decisions have been deemed to be "almost unchallengeable, Dawson v. State, 108 Nev. 112, 117, 825 P.2d 593, 596 (1992); see also Ford v. State, 105 Nev. 850, 853, 784 P.2d 951, 953 (1989)

2016. 4 AA 825; 4 AA 858-884. Darion then followed up on this request on or around July 2, 2016 and learned that trial counsel had not yet submitted the paperwork for the evaluation. 4 AA 826. Regarding his belief he suffered from PTSD, he claimed:

I told him that I needed a PTSD evaluation and I told him that I hadn't been the same since I was shot and we started discussing the circumstances surrounding me being shot and he told me that is possible that I do have PTSD. So we do need to get that evaluation and he told me that he would have to put some type of motion in or something for the Courts to pay for the evaluation because he was Court appointed." 4 AA 825.

It was not disputed that Darion was shot. Ultimately, Darion testified to having made mention of the same several months prior to the filing of the Motion to Continue in his case that sought to continue on the basis of obtaining such an evaluation. 4 AA 826.

The above established the following timeline of knowledge:

- September 13, 2013 Darion discloses family PTSD history to Dr. Kapel and Dr. Kapel notes attorney's knowledge of mental health concerns 3 AA 707-10;
- October 21 2013 Darion discloses the PTSD claim to Dr. Harder 3 AA 700-02;
- December 1, 2014 trial counsel is appointed to the matter 4 AA 822.

- January 28, 2015, Dr. Sussman learns of the same claims and notes a history of bipolar disorder and a familiar history of PTSD. 4 AA 886-89.
- November 28, 2016 status check hearing where prior counsel notes there is an issue of concern and is directed to file a Motion. 4 AA 884-85.
- December 19, 2016 Trial Counsel files Motion to Continue. 4 AA 858-84.
- January 3 2017 Trial commences. 1 AA 038.

Although previous counsel indicated that the claims for PTSD were made to him a couple of days before his Motion to Continue, this as belied by record, and did not minimize counsel's duty to investigate the same, particularly when it was crucial to Darion' self-defense argument. The above evidenced that no later than November 28, 2016, counsel would have notice of PTSD thirty-six days prior to trial, and three weeks prior to the filing of the Motion to Continue. 1 AA 038; 4 AA 858-84. Based on testimony at evidentiary hearing that an evaluation could be obtained relatively easily, this would have been more than enough time to obtain an evaluation prior to the filing of the Motion to Continue. 4 AA 815. Importantly, counsel, who was better equipped than either the Court or the State to determine whether or not a good faith basis existed to consult with a PTSD expert, did not question Darion's claims. see generally 4 AA 814-21. However, a reasonable basis upon which previous counsel could rely existed years prior to his Motion on December 19, 2016, and even in the light most favorable to the State, twenty-one days prior to the Motion at a time when trial was thirty-six (36) days away.

///

///

B. Nature and frequency of state's comments.

The State, while only sparingly mentioning the same upon Darion's crossexamination, impugned Darion's exercise of his rights under both the Fifth and Sixth Amendments. During its initial closing, concerning time during which Darion did not come forward and give a statement, the state noted:

"The four year plan, what's that? Well the Defendant has four years to figure out what he was going to say on the stand" 3 AA 587.

This impermissibly imputed upon Darion a duty to have returned to give a statement to police during those intervening four years, contrary to his well-established right to be free from such compulsion to give a statement. 3 AA 587. The state also suggested that Darion had to testify and subject himself to cross-examination because of the existence of the video surveillance of the incident although Darion was required to give no such statement; specifically stating "And he was subjecting himself to cross-examination. He had to do that. He had to do that because the video shows he killed Dale". 3 AA 609.

In its rebuttal closing, the state went further and argued,

"You admit what you can't deny. You deny what you can't admit. When he didn't see the video Mr. Coleman denied everything. After having a few years to contemplate it Mr. Coleman seeing the video then has to admit certain things. He has to admit he was there with Dustin Bleak. He has to admit that he was there with Mr. McCampbell. He has to admit that he pulled a gun first. He has to admit that he pistol whipped him. He has to admit those stuff. *And he has to deny it was a robbery despite all the evidence that it was a rob -- all the 21 things that Mr. Hamner pointed out saying that there -- this was a robbery. He has to deny that, because if it's a robbery it's felony murder.*" 3 A 614.

And shortly after that,

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