IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Electronically Filed  
Feb 07 2022 01:52 p.m.  
Elizabeth A. Brown  
Clerk of Supreme Court

DARION COLEMAN,  
Appellant,

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,  
Respondent.

Case No. 82915

**RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF**

**Appeal From Denial of Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction)  
Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County**

WALEED ZAMAN, ESQ.  
Nevada Bar #013993  
6620 South Tenaya Way, Suite 100  
Las Vegas, Nevada 89113

STEVEN B. WOLFSON  
Clark County District Attorney  
Nevada Bar #001565  
Regional Justice Center  
200 Lewis Avenue  
Post Office Box 552212  
Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212  
(702) 671-2500  
State of Nevada

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

### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

First, the district court erred when it failed to apply the mandatory procedural bars to Coleman's Petition. Appellant's Petition was due by July 30, 2019. Although the State and Appellant stipulated to extend the filing due date to October 1, 2019, this Court has held that such stipulations are improper and that district courts may not disregard the statutory procedural default rules. In addition, Appellant also missed the stipulated extended filing deadline. Thus, even when viewed in the light most favorable to Appellant, the Petition was untimely.

Second, Appellant asserts four (4) claims that should have been raised on direct appeal and these claims are therefore waived: (1) Detective Miller was not properly noticed as an expert witness (Issue 2); (2) the sentencing court relied on improper evidence at sentencing (Issue 3); (3) the State elicited testimony regarding Appellant's post-arrest silence (Issue 4); and (4) the State's closing argument constituted impermissible tailoring (Issue 5). As his Petition was time-barred and four (4) of his claims were waived, Appellant had to show good cause and prejudice for the district court to consider the merits of the Petition.

Appellant failed to demonstrate good cause and prejudice. Appellant's claims were available at the time of the default, and he cannot demonstrate that an impediment external to his defense prevented him from filing his Petition in a timely manner. Because all of Appellant's claims are either time-barred or waived, and Appellant cannot show good cause for the delay, the Appeal must be denied.

Third, the district court properly denied Appellant's ineffective assistance of counsel claim based on his alleged PTSD. Appellant's claim that his counsel either knew or should have known about his alleged PTSD is unsupported by the record. The record shows that as soon as Appellant informed his attorney about his PTSD claim, his attorney filed a Motion to Continue trial requesting time to obtain a PTSD evaluation within a matter of days. The district court properly concluded that this

did not constitute ineffective assistance of counsel. Appellant also fails to demonstrate prejudice.

Fourth, Detective Miller's testimony did not constitute an expert opinion for which she was not properly noticed. Detective Miller merely formed a conclusion based on her own observations of the crime scene and video surveillance. Detective Miller did not testify regarding any conclusions that the jury could not have formed on their own based on the evidence presented at trial. Thus, this claim was properly denied.

Fifth, the sentencing court did not rely on improper evidence. Contrary to Appellant's assertion, there was nothing improper about the district court relying on video surveillance of the shooting or concluding that there was overwhelming evidence in support of Appellant's guilt. This is especially true given that on direct appeal, this Court found that there was sufficient evidence presented at trial to sustain Appellant's conviction. Thus, the district court did not err when it denied this claim.

Sixth, the district court did not err when it found that the State did not impermissibly impugn Appellant's right to silence. When the challenged statement is read in context, it is clear that the State was not commenting on Appellant's post-arrest silence. Rather, the State was commenting on inconsistencies between Appellant's legal, voluntary statement made to police and his testimony at trial.

Thus, the State's closing argument did not implicate his post-arrest silence and this claim was properly denied.

Seventh, the district court did not abuse its discretion when it failed to deem the State's closing argument as impermissible tailoring. Appellant argues that the State impermissibly implied that Appellant tailored his testimony after hearing the State's presentation of the evidence. However, pursuant to the United States Supreme Court's holding in Portuondo v. Agard, 529 U.S. 61, 67, 120 S. Ct. 1119, 1123, 146 L. Ed. 2d 47 (2000), there is nothing improper about the State making such an argument. Thus, this claim was properly denied.

Eighth, Appellant claims that his counsel was ineffective for failure to impeach Detective Miller on her contradictory statements regarding who shot first and for failing to argue the same during closings. However, the record clearly shows that trial counsel did in fact impeach Detective Miller with the exact statements that Appellant points to. As such, this claim is belied by the record and the district court did not err in denying this claim.

Finally, Appellant has not established cumulative error. As the individual claims were properly denied, there is no error to cumulate, and the district court properly denied this claim.

///

///

## ARGUMENT

### **I. STANDARD OF REVIEW**

This Court reviews the district court's application of the law de novo, and gives deference to a district court's factual findings in habeas matters. State v. Huebler, 128 Nev. 192, 197, 275 P.3d 91, 95 (2012), cert. denied, 133 S. Ct. 988 (2013). This Court reviews a district court's denial of a habeas petition for abuse of discretion. Rubio v. State, 124 Nev. 1032, 1047, 194 P.3d 1224, 1234 (2008). "An abuse of discretion occurs if the district court's decision is arbitrary or capricious or if it exceeds the bounds of law or reason." Jackson v. State, 117 Nev. 116, 120, 17 P.3d 998, 1000 (2001). This Court must give deference to the factual findings made by the district court as long as they are supported by the record. Little v. Warden, 117 Nev. 845, 854, 34 Pd. 3d 540, 546 (2001).

### **II. THE PETITION WAS PROCEDURALLY BARRED**

#### **A. The Petition Was Time Barred Pursuant to NRS 34.726(1)**

The Petition was time-barred pursuant to NRS 34.726(1):

Unless there is good cause shown for delay, a petition that challenges the validity of a judgment or sentence must be filed within 1 year of the entry of the judgment of conviction or, if an appeal has been taken from the judgment, within 1 year after the Supreme Court issues its remittitur. For the purposes of this subsection, good cause for delay exists if the petitioner demonstrates to the satisfaction of the court:

(a) That the delay is not the fault of the petitioner; and

(b) That dismissal of the petition as untimely will unduly prejudice the petitioner.

The Nevada Supreme Court has held that NRS 34.726 should be construed by its plain meaning. Pellegrini v. State, 117 Nev. 860, 873–74, 34 P.3d 519, 528 (2001). As per the language of the statute, the one-year time bar proscribed by NRS 34.726 begins to run from the date the judgment of conviction is filed or a remittitur from a timely direct appeal is filed. Dickerson v. State, 114 Nev. 1084, 1087, 967 P.2d 1132, 1133–34 (1998).

The one-year time limit for preparing petitions for post-conviction relief under NRS 34.726 is strictly applied. In Gonzales v. State, 118 Nev. 590, 596, 53 P.3d 901, 904 (2002), the Nevada Supreme Court rejected a habeas petition that was filed two (2) days late despite evidence presented by the defendant that he purchased postage through the prison and mailed the petition within the one-year time limit.

Furthermore, the Nevada Supreme Court has held that the district court has a *duty* to consider whether a defendant's post-conviction petition claims are procedurally barred. State v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court (Riker), 121 Nev. 225, 231, 112 P.3d 1070, 1074 (2005). The Riker Court found that “[a]pplication of the statutory procedural default rules to post-conviction habeas petitions is mandatory,” noting:

Habeas corpus petitions that are filed many years after conviction are an unreasonable burden on the criminal justice system. The necessity for a workable system

dictates that there must exist a time when a criminal conviction is final.

Id. Additionally, the Court noted that procedural bars “cannot be ignored [by the district court] when properly raised by the State.” Id. at 233, 112 P.3d at 1075. The Nevada Supreme Court has granted no discretion to the district courts regarding whether to apply the statutory procedural bars; the rules must be applied.

This position was reaffirmed in State v. Greene, 129 Nev. 559, 307 P.3d 322 (2013). There the Court ruled that the defendant’s petition was “untimely, successive, and an abuse of the writ” and that the defendant failed to show good cause and actual prejudice. Id. at 324, 307 P.3d at 326. Accordingly, the Court reversed the district court and ordered the defendant’s petition dismissed pursuant to the procedural bars. Id. at 324, 307 P.3d at 322–23. The procedural bars are so fundamental to the post-conviction process that they must be applied by this Court even if not raised by the State. See Riker, 121 Nev. at 231, 112 P.3d at 1074.

In the instant case, the Judgment of Conviction was filed on March 29, 2017. Appellant appealed his conviction, which was affirmed by the Supreme Court of Nevada. Remittitur was issued on July 30, 2018. While an amended Judgment of Conviction was filed on August 29, 2018, an amended Judgment of Conviction does not change the deadline to file a timely post-conviction Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus. Sullivan v. State, 120 Nev. 537, 541, 96 P.3d 761, 764 (2004). Therefore, Appellant’s Petition was due by July 30, 2019.

Approximately one (1) month after the filing due date, the State and Appellant entered into a stipulation to extend the filing due date to October 1, 2019. Such a stipulation was improper. The Supreme Court of Nevada has held:

The parties in a post-conviction habeas proceeding cannot stipulate to disregard the statutory procedural default rules. We direct all counsel in the future not to enter into stipulations like the one in this case and direct the district courts not to adopt such stipulations.”

State v. Haberstroh, 119 Nev. 173, 181, 69 P.3d 676, 682 (2003). The State maintains that although it conceded this point during the hearing on Appellant’s Habeas Petition, it was still improper for the district court to accept the stipulation.<sup>1</sup> 4 AA 803–04.

Further, even if such a stipulation was proper, Appellant filed the underlying Petition on December 6, 2019, over two (2) months after the stipulated extended filing deadline. By any account, the Petition was untimely. Although the district court arrived at the correct result on the merits, the State maintains that these claims

---

<sup>1</sup> At the hearing, the Court inquired as to why the State was arguing the time-bar given the stipulation:

MR. SCHWARTZER: My understanding with reading the case, it doesn't matter whether I agreed to it or not. I don't feel – I personally don't feel comfortable arguing that it's time barred since I agreed to the --

...

MR. SCHWARTZER: -- continuance. Yes.  
4 AA 803–04.

are procedurally barred. Barring a showing of good cause and prejudice, the instant Appeal must be denied.

**B. Claims 2, 3, 4, and 5 Are Waived Pursuant to NRS 34.810**

NRS 34.810(1) reads:

The court shall dismiss a petition if the court determines that:

(a) The petitioner’s conviction was upon a plea of guilty or guilty but mentally ill and the petition is not based upon an allegation that the plea was involuntarily or unknowingly or that the plea was entered without effective assistance of counsel.

(b) The petitioner’s conviction was the result of a trial and the grounds for the petition could have been:

...

(2) Raised in a direct appeal or a prior petition for a writ of habeas corpus or postconviction relief.

The Nevada Supreme Court has held that “challenges to the validity of a guilty plea and claims of ineffective assistance of trial and appellate counsel must first be pursued in post-conviction proceedings . . . [A]ll other claims that are appropriate for a direct appeal must be pursued on direct appeal, or they *will be considered waived in subsequent proceedings.*” Franklin v. State, 110 Nev. 750, 752, 877 P.2d 1058, 1059 (1994) (emphasis added) (disapproved on other grounds by Thomas v. State, 115 Nev. 148, 979 P.2d 222 (1999)). “A court must dismiss a habeas petition if it presents claims that either were or could have been presented in an earlier proceeding, unless the court finds both cause for failing to present the claims earlier

or for raising them again and actual prejudice to the petitioner.” Evans v. State, 117 Nev. 609, 646-47, 29 P.3d 498, 523 (2001).

Appellant brings four (4) claims that are procedurally barred because they were waived: (1) Detective Miller was not properly noticed as an expert witness (Issue 2); (2) the sentencing court relied on improper evidence at sentencing (Issue 3); (3) the State elicited testimony regarding Appellant’s post-arrest silence (Issue 4); and (4) the State’s closing argument constituted impermissible tailoring (Issue 5). In addition to having no merit, these claims should have been raised when Appellant filed his direct appeal.

The State notes that it did not argue that Issues 2 and 5 were waived before the district court. The State did not argue that Issue 2 was waived because it was presented as an ineffective assistance of counsel claim below, rather than as a freestanding claim as Appellant presents it now in his Opening Brief. 1 AA 31, Opening Brief at 32. Further, the State did not claim that Issue 5 was waived in its Opposition to Defendant’s Post-Conviction Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus because this argument was not raised in the underlying Petition. See 1 AA 10–36. Rather, Appellant raised this issue for the first time at the hearing on Appellant’s Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus. 4 AA 799–801. Absent a showing of good cause and prejudice, these claims were waived pursuant to NRS 34.810 and Franklin v. State. 110 Nev. 750, 752, 877 P.2d 1058, 1059 (1994).

### III. APPELLANT HAS NOT SHOWN GOOD CAUSE OR PREJUDICE SUFFICIENT TO OVERCOME HIS PROCEDURAL BARS

To avoid procedural default, under NRS 34.726, a defendant has the burden of pleading and proving specific facts that demonstrate good cause for his failure to present his claim in earlier proceedings or to otherwise comply with the statutory requirements, *and* that he will be unduly prejudiced if the petition is dismissed. NRS 34.726(1)(a) (emphasis added); see Hogan v. Warden, 109 Nev. 952, 959–60, 860 P.2d 710, 715–16 (1993); Phelps v. Nevada Dep’t of Prisons, 104 Nev. 656, 659, 764 P.2d 1303, 1305 (1988). “A court *must* dismiss a habeas petition if it presents claims that either were or could have been presented in an earlier proceeding, unless the court finds both cause for failing to present the claims earlier or for raising them again and actual prejudice to the petitioner.” Evans v. State, 117 Nev. 609, 646-47, 29 P.3d 498, 523 (2001) (emphasis added).

To show good cause for delay under NRS 34.726(1), a petitioner must demonstrate the following: (1) “[t]hat the delay is not the fault of the petitioner” and (2) that the petitioner will be “unduly prejudice[d]” if the petition is dismissed as untimely. NRS 34.726. To meet the first requirement, “a petitioner *must* show that an impediment external to the defense prevented him or her from complying with the state procedural default rules.” Hathaway v. State, 119 Nev. 248, 252, 71 P.3d 503, 506 (2003) (emphasis added). “A qualifying impediment might be shown where the factual or legal basis for a claim was not reasonably available *at the time of*

*default.*” Clem v. State, 119 Nev. 615, 621, 81 P.3d 521, 525 (2003) (emphasis added). The Court continued, “appellants cannot attempt to manufacture good cause[.]” Id. at 621, 81 P.3d at 526. To find good cause there must be a “substantial reason; one that affords a legal excuse.” Hathaway v. State, 119 Nev. 248, 252, 71 P.3d 503, 506 (2003) (quoting Colley v. State, 105 Nev. 235, 236, 773 P.2d 1229, 1230 (1989)). Examples of good cause include interference by State officials and the previous unavailability of a legal or factual basis. See State v. Huebler, 128 Nev. Adv. Op. 19, 275 P.3d 91, 95 (2012). Clearly, any delay in the filing of the petition must not be the fault of the petitioner. NRS 34.726(1)(a).

Further, a petitioner raising good cause to excuse procedural bars must do so within a reasonable time after the alleged good cause arises. See Pellegrini, 117 Nev. at 869–70, 34 P.3d at 525–26 (holding that the time bar in NRS 34.726 applies to successive petitions); see generally Hathaway, 119 Nev. at 252–53, 71 P.3d at 506–07 (stating that a claim reasonably available to the petitioner during the statutory time period did not constitute good cause to excuse a delay in filing). A claim that is itself procedurally barred cannot constitute good cause. Riker, 121 Nev. at 235, 112 P.3d at 1077; see also Edwards v. Carpenter, 529 U.S. 446, 453 120 S. Ct. 1587, 1592 (2000).

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